No. 46352-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

Devenuice Gaines,

Appellant.

Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 12-1-01384-7 The Honorable Judge Thomas Felnagle

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Skylar T. Brett Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The court violated Mr. Gaines's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to an impartial jury.
- 2. The court violated Mr. Gaines's Wash. Const. art. I, § 22 right to an impartial jury.
- 3. The court violated Mr. Gaines's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 4. The court abused its discretion by applying the wrong legal standard to Mr. Gaines's motion for a mistrial after the jury was exposed to prejudicial extrinsic information.
- 5. The court abused its discretion by applying the wrong legal standard to determine whether the jury's exposure to extrinsic information was harmless.
 - **ISSUE 1:** When extrinsic information injected into a jury's deliberations could impact the verdict, the trial court must declare a mistrial. Did the court violate Mr. Gaines's right to an impartial jury by denying his mistrial motion when jurors heard that a conviction would be Mr. Gaines's "third strike" (which was not accurate), and at least one juror also heard that Mr. Gaines had a prior manslaughter conviction?
- 6. The court violated Mr. Gaines's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to an impartial and unanimous jury.
- 7. The court violated Mr. Gaines's Wash. Const. art. I, § 21 right to trial by jury.
- 8. The court erred by dismissing Juror 2 after learning that he favored acquittal.
- 9. The court committed structural error by dismissing Juror 2.

ISSUE 2: Once a court becomes aware of a deliberating juror's views of the merits of a case, that juror cannot be dismissed for misconduct unless she or he is unable to deliberate impartially. Did the court violate Mr. Gaines's right to a unanimous verdict by dismissing Juror 2 – who injected extrinsic information into deliberations while arguing for Mr. Gaines's innocence – without asking whether he could put the information aside and deliberate fairly?

- 10. Prosecutorial misconduct denied Mr. Gaines his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial.
- 11. The prosecutor committed flagrant, ill-intentioned, prejudicial misconduct by "testifying" to "facts" not in evidence during closing argument.
 - **ISSUE 3:** A prosecutor commits misconduct by "testifying" to "facts" not in evidence during argument. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by attributing statements to Mr. Gaines that were not in evidence and that made it appear as though Mr. Gaines had planned to murder Price?
- 12. The court violated Mr. Gaines's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to confront adverse witnesses.
- 13. The court violated Mr. Gaines's art. I, § 22 right to confront adverse witnesses.
- 14. The court erred by prohibiting Mr. Gaines from cross-examining Thomas regarding a significant source of potential bias.
- 15. The court erred by prohibiting Mr. Gaines from cross-examining Thomas on a matter affecting her credibility.
 - **ISSUE 4:** An accused person must be permitted to cross-examine the state's witnesses regarding bias and matters affecting credibility. Did the court violate Mr. Gaines's confrontation right by prohibiting questions about the timing of Thomas's statements to the prosecutor, which she made while charged with Price's murder?
- 16. The court erred by prohibiting Mr. Gaines from cross-examining McVea regarding his motive to lie about being armed during Price's shooting.
 - **ISSUE 5:** The confrontation clause requires that an accused person be permitted to cross-examine state witnesses about their motivation to lie. Did the court violate Mr. Gaines's confrontation right by barring questions about McVea's felony convictions, offered to show why McVea would lie about being armed during the shooting?
- 17. The court violated Mr. Gaines's Fourteenth Amendment due process right to present a defense.

- 18. The court should have allowed Mr. Gaines to present "other suspect" evidence implicating Green.
- 19. The court erred by prohibiting Mr. Gaines from presenting evidence of Green's habit for carrying a small gun.
 - **ISSUE 6:** Due process includes the right to present relevant, admissible evidence in one's defense. Did the court violate Mr. Gaines's right to present a defense by prohibiting him from introducing evidence of Green's habit for carrying a small gun to support his theory that she was the real shooter?
- 20. The court erred by denying Mr. Gaines's motion to dismiss the charges against him based on governmental mismanagement.
 - **ISSUE 7:** A criminal charge must be dismissed when governmental mismanagement prejudices the rights of the accused. Should the court have dismissed the case when government mismanagement forced Mr. Gaines to choose between his rights to a speedy trial and to be free from double jeopardy, and his right to adequately-prepared counsel?
- 21. The court erred by ordering Mr. Gaines to pay \$1,900 in legal financial obligations absent any individualized inquiry into his ability to pay.
- 22. The court erred by entering finding of fact 2.5 CP 487.

ISSUE 8: A court may not order a person to pay legal financial obligations (LFOs) without conducting an individualized inquiry into his/her means to do so. Did the court err by ordering Mr. Gaines to pay \$1,900 in LFOs, while also finding him indigent and without analyzing whether he had the money to pay?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

1. The Global Grinders motorcycle club hosted an after-hours party in Tacoma.

Devennice Gaines went with two friends, Lakhea Thomas and Denise Green, to an after-hours party at the Global Grinders motorcycle club in Tacoma. RP (3/27/14) 653-655; RP (3/31/14) 930-931. Mr. Gaines was not a member of the club. RP (4/8/14) 1444. He was not from the area. RP (3/27/14) 645, 654. He did not know that the clubhouse had once been closed down because of a shooting. RP (3/17/14) 9.

Once he got to the club's headquarters, he was "wanded" with a metal detector, which found no weapons. RP (3/27/14) 663, 777; RP (3/31/14) 939. Security also patted him down and found nothing. RP (3/27/14) 777; RP (3/31/14) 939. They wanded and patted down all non-club-members. RP (3/24/14) 472-473; RP (3/27/14) 665; RP (3/31/14) 895; RP (3/31/14) 938-939, 1066.

Thomas and Green were also wanded and patted down, but security did not check inside Green's purse. RP (3/27/14) 663, 774; RP (3/31/14) 938-939, 996, 996, 1015.

The members of Global Grinders were not checked for weapons. RP (4/8/14) 1433, 1489. Neither were people wearing vests showing membership in other motorcycle clubs. RP (4/8/14) 1489. Several club

members carried guns inside the party. RP (3/27/14) 675-676, 682; RP (3/31/14) 950-951.

Inside the club, a man in a wheelchair – Dashe Tate – started harassing Thomas and Green. RP (3/31/14) 941-942. Tate ran over Thomas's feet with his chair. RP (3/31/14) 942. Green and Thomas thought it might have been because they were not from the area. RP (3/31/14) 942.

Later, Mr. Gaines had an altercation with Tate as well. RP (3/24/14) 413-414; RP (3/27/14) 670; RP (3/31/14) 946-947. It is not clear whether Tate lunged at Mr. Gaines or whether Mr. Gaines grabbed at him, but Tate ended up out of his chair and on the floor. RP (3/27/14) 670; RP (3/31/14) 946-937.

Immediately, several motorcycle club members swarmed Mr. Gaines. RP (3/27/14) 672-675; RP (3/31/14) 948-949. They dragged him away from the dance floor in a chokehold. RP (3/31/14) 950, 997-998. They held him up against a wall. RP (3/24/14) 417-420, 478-479; RP (3/27/14) 676; RP (3/31/14) 950-951. They closed all the doors and would not let anyone leave. RP (3/24/14) 478; RP (3/27/14) 679; RP (4/8/14) 1438.

The motorcycle club president – Victor McVea – acted like he was going to "rough" Mr. Gaines up. RP (3/24/14) 479; RP (3/27/14) 676-678;

RP (3/31/14) 999. McVea and at least one other club member had guns drawn. RP (3/27/14) 675-677, 682, 784-785; RP (3/31/14) 951. McVea was so angry that other club members had to pull him off Mr. Gaines. RP (4/8/14) 1486.

Mr. Gaines did not fight back. RP (3/27/14) 674; RP (4/8/14) 1437. He just shook his head and said, "don't do me like that." RP (3/27/14) 674.

Thomas was scared. RP (3/27/14) 785. She approached an older club member and pled with him to just let her, Green, and Mr. Gaines leave. Eventually, the club member agreed. RP (3/27/14) 685.

By then, the lights had come up and the party was over. RP (3/24/14) 484; RP (3/27/14) 673; RP (3/31/14) 953; RP (4/1/14) 1101.

Almost everyone from inside, including Mr. Gaines, Thomas, and Green, went out into the adjacent alley to their cars. RP (3/24/14) 421.

2. Someone shot Bruce Price, shortly after Denise Green told him to back up while holding her hand in her purse as though she had a gun.

It was very dark in the alley. RP (3/24/14) 429; RP (4/8/14) 1499-1500. A man named Bruce Price confronted Mr. Gaines about fighting

¹ Some Global Grinders members testified that no one had guns drawn. *See e.g.* RP (4/1/14) 1104-1105; RP (4/8/14) 1433, 1560. McVea, a convicted felon, claimed that he didn't touch a gun that evening. RP (4/8/14) 1433.

with a man in a wheelchair. RP (3/24/14) 430; RP (3/27/14) 692-693. Price told Mr. Gaines that he was "fucked up." RP (3/27/14) 693.

Mr. Gaines did not engage with Price. RP (3/24/14) 485; RP (3/27/14) 692, 789-790. Instead, he walked toward the car he had come in. RP (3/24/14) 485-486; RP (3/27/14) 694, 789-790.

Green, however, walked toward the fracas. RP (3/27/14) 694, 699. She told Price's friend, Jesse Williams, not to "jump in." RP (3/24/14) 431. She told Price and Williams to back up. RP (3/27/14) 695; RP (3/31/14) 1007, 1078.

Both Thomas and Mr. Gaines implored Green to just get in the car, but she didn't listen.² RP (3/27/14) 694, 697, 793; RP (3/31/14) 1007, 1080-1081. She put her hand in her purse and waved it at Williams as though she had a gun. RP (3/24/14) 433; RP (3/27/14) 694, 792-793. She was acting like there was going to be a fight. RP (3/24/14) 432. Williams felt threatened enough that he considered hitting Green to knock her over a car. RP (3/24/14) 489.

Williams continued walking down the alley, with Price immediately in front of him, and Mr. Gaines and Thomas a few feet in

² At one point, Mr. Gaines told Green to "get in the car, bitch." RP (3/31/14) 1025.

front of Price.³ RP (3/24/14) 434. There were a lot of other people in the alley too. RP (4/8/14) 1451.

Then, several gunshots were fired. RP (3/24/14) 433. The only argument going on immediately beforehand was between Green and Williams. RP (3/27/14) 699-700; RP (3/31/14) 1004, 1015, 1030-1031; RP (4/1/14) 1081.

When the shots fired, Mr. Gaines, Green, and Thomas all ran to their car. RP (3/24/14) 435; RP (3/27/14) 698. Because they ran, Williams assumed that the shots had come from one of them. RP (3/24/14) 435. Otherwise, he could not tell where the shots came from. Nor could he tell how far away the shooter was. RP (3/24/14) 436, 519. He initially believed that someone had fired up into the air, as a warning shot. RP (3/24/14) 436.

3. Bullets from two different guns hit Price, and witnesses fled before the police arrived.

There were at least two guns fired. RP (3/27/14) 702. Price was hit with multiple bullets – at least one .38 and one 9 mm. Ex. 11, 12; RP (4/1/14) 1135, 1173, 1175, 1178; RP (4/8/14) 1309-1321. He died shortly thereafter. RP (3/19/14) 41.

³ Thomas testified that Mr. Gaines was facing Price as he walked. RP (3/27/14) 692. Williams said that he did not see Mr. Gaines walking backwards. RP (3/24/14) 553.

Almost everyone in the alley fled before the police arrived. RP (3/19/14); 57; RP (3/24/14) 448, 537; RP (4/1/14) 1110-1111, 1242; RP (4/8/14) 1460; RP (4/8/14) 1566. This included McVea, the club president.⁴ RP (4/18/14) 1459-1460. Mr. Gaines, Green, and Thomas all got into Thomas's car and left at the same time as everyone else. RP (3/24/14) 537; RP (3/27/14), 703, 707.

When the police got there a few minutes later, they found only Williams, Price, and a few people who were trying to help. RP (3/24/14) 448-449.

A neighbor came out and watched the scene after hearing the gunfire. RP (4/1/14) 1237-1238. He told the police that he saw someone hand a package off to a person in an SUV. RP (4/1/14) 1241. He thought the package may have contained a gun. The handoff interaction was not connected to Mr. Gaines. ⁵ RP (4/1/14) 1241-1245.

4. Williams and McVea both assumed that Mr. Gaines had shot Price, because Price was addressing Mr. Gaines at the time of the shooting.

⁴ McVea ordered another member to lock the club headquarters before leaving. RP (4/8/14) 1459-1460.

⁵ The neighbor testified that the handoff was disconnected from a silver BMW "flying down 23rd" in the direction that Mr. Gaines's car went. RP (4/1/14) 1244-1245. Other witnesses testified that Mr. Gaines left in a silver Mercedes. RP (3/24/14) 446.

Williams admitted that he had not actually seen Mr. Gaines with a gun. RP (3/20/14) 296; RP (3/24/14) 466. Nor did he see any flashes coming from Mr. Gaines's direction when the shots were fired. RP (3/24/14) 435. In spite of this, he told the police that Mr. Gaines was the shooter. RP (3/20/14) 270. He believed that the shots came from Thomas, Green, or Mr. Gaines because the three of them ran after the shooting. RP (3/24/14) 435.

He described the car in which Mr. Gaines left. RP (3/20/14) 269.

McVea also identified Mr. Gaines as the shooter. RP (4/8/14) 1475. He later admitted, though, that he had not seen the actual shooting. RP (4/8/14) 1484. He had just assumed it was Mr. Gaines because Mr. Gaines had fought with Tate and been thrown out of the club. RP (4/8/14) 1506, 1512.

The medical examiner was unable to determine the direction from which Price had been shot. RP (4/2/14) 1316.

No other witnesses claimed to have seen the shooting. Several witnesses had seen the confrontation between Tate and Mr. Gaines. *See e.g.* RP (3/31/14) 896-897, 900; RP (4/1/14) 1101, 1107-1108.

⁶ At trial, McVea testified that he saw "muzzle flashes" coming from near where Mr. Gaines had been. RP (4/8/14) 1451.

The police found numerous .38 and 9 mm shell casings in the alley. RP (4/1/14) 1124-1132, 1165-1167; Ex. 6, 7, 9. No guns were ever recovered. *See* RP *generally*.

5. Green and Thomas decided to put the shooting on Mr. Gaines, and both lied to police.

Green and Thomas both lied during their initial interviews with police. RP (3/27/14) 718, 720-721, 741, 804; RP (3/31/14) 981-982, 985. After Thomas spoke with police, she told Green what she had said so they could coordinate their stories. RP (3/27/14) 721-722, 739-740, 804; RP (3/31/14) 981-982.

Thomas and Green decided to put the shooting on Mr. Gaines. RP (3/27/14) 742, 804. They thought that his "life was over" anyway because they believed he was going to face unrelated federal charges. RP (3/27/14) 725. They distanced themselves from him and said that they had not gone to the party together. RP (3/17/14) 718, 720-721, 741-742, 803; RP (3/31/14) 985.

The state charged Mr. Gaines and Thomas with Price's murder. CP 1-2. Green pled guilty to rendering criminal assistance. RP (10/7/13) 374. The state also charged Mr. Gaines with unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 1-2.

6. Mr. Gaines' first trial ended in a mistrial after the prosecutor dismissed murder charges against Thomas following a closed-door meeting with her.

Mr. Gaines and Thomas completed jury selection in a joint trial.

RP (9/16/13) 108. After the jury was sworn in, the prosecutor decided to dismiss Thomas's murder charge with prejudice and proceed only against Mr. Gaines. RP (9/9/13) 35; RP (9/12/13) 81.

The prosecutor made this decision after meeting with Thomas when a "new" report surfaced, memorializing a much earlier police interview with her. The prosecutor admitted, though, that the report did not add any new or relevant facts to the case. RP (9/12/13) 94. In resisting Mr. Gaines's mistrial motion, the prosecutor claimed that there was not actually any new evidence in the case. RP (9/16/13) 111-112. He said that Thomas's new statement merely confirmed what other witnesses had already said. RP (9/12/13) 94.

The prosecutor told the judge that he did not believe he had enough evidence to proceed against Thomas. RP (9/12/13) 83. He also said that

⁷ The lead detective on the case had failed until that point to write a report memorializing a much earlier interview with Thomas. RP (9/16/13) 104. The missing report came to light only after the trial had begun. RP (9/16/13) 104. Once the report surfaced, Thomas agreed to give a new "proffer" statement to the prosecutor. RP (9/12/13) 87. The prosecutors held a closed-door meeting with Thomas and conducted an interview. RP (9/12/13) 83-84. Thomas also drew a diagram of the scene in the alley at the time of the shooting. RP (3/27/14) 743; Ex. 76. The next day, the prosecutor moved to dismiss Thomas's murder charge. RP (9/12/13) 81.

the decision was made because of Thomas's "willingness to talk." RP (9/12/13) 83.

Mr. Gaines moved to dismiss the charge against him under CrR 8.3 based on governmental mismanagement of the case. RP (9/16/13) 101-102. He said that the prosecutor's last minute decision to dismiss charges against Thomas and to introduce new evidence (in the form of her testimony) forced him to choose between his rights to adequately-prepared counsel and to a speedy trial. RP (9/16/13) 108.

He pointed out that the jury had seen Thomas sitting next to Mr. Gaines for five days of jury selection and that he could not predict how that would color their view of her testimony. RP (9/12/13) 87-89. He said he needed to do additional investigation into the case given Thomas's new role. RP (9/12/13) 89; RP (9/16/13) 105.

Mr. Gaines also argued that he had not been able to *voir dire* potential jurors about the effect that Thomas's testimony would have on them. RP (9/12/13) 88. He noted that he had had to share his peremptory challenges with Thomas's counsel, which resulted in two jurors on the panel whom he would have dismissed if acting alone. RP (9/12/13) 88-89.

The court found that the lead detective had engaged in mismanagement by failing to write a report about her interview with Thomas until after trial had begun. RP (9/16/13) 120-121. Even so, the

court denied Mr. Gaines's motion to dismiss. RP (9/16/13) 122. The court did not make any findings regarding the prosecutor's actions.

Mr. Gaines moved for a mistrial, which the court granted. RP (9/16/13) 123, 127.

7. The second trial ended in a mistrial when the jury could not reach a unanimous verdict.

The case proceeded to a second trial with Mr. Gaines as the only defendant. *See* RP (9/30/13) – RP (10/30/13). After fourteen days of testimony, the second trial resulted in a hung jury. RP (10/30/13) 2704-2717. With Mr. Gaines's consent, the court declared a mistrial. RP (10/30/13) 2715-2716, 2720.

8. At the third trial, the court barred inquiry into the connection between Thomas's decision to cooperate and the dismissal of the murder charge against her.⁸

At trial, Mr. Gaines sought to cross-examine Thomas regarding the dismissal of her murder charge. RP (10/9/13); 715-727, 766-770; RP (10/10/13) 878-898. He sought to show that she gave her most recent statement to the prosecution while the murder charge was still hanging over her head. RP (10/9/13) 718-720. He argued that the evidence was relevant to bias and credibility. RP (10/9/13) 719-720.

⁸ Some of the evidentiary rulings discussed in this section were made during Mr. Gaines's second trial. The parties agreed, however, that those rulings would carry over to the third trial under the law of the case doctrine. RP (3/17/14) 23; RP (3/24/14) 510.

The court denied Mr. Gaines's motion. RP (10/9/13) 726. The court only let Mr. Gaines bring out that Thomas was once charged with Price's murder and that the charge was dismissed. RP (10/10/13) 893; RP (3/27/14) 805. The judge did not allow Mr. Gaines to draw any connection between her statement and the dismissal. RP (10/10/13) 896-898.

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