NO. 46352-1

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

DEVENNICE ANTOINE GAINES, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Thomas Felnagle

No. 12-1-01384-7

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
JASON RUYF
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

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

On the following day, the Presiding Juror disclosed Juror No. 2 exposed eight jurors to extrinsic information about defendant's criminal

⁶⁹ 13RP 1687, 1692; CP 380-410.

history.⁷⁰ Juror No. 2 claimed he learned about the convictions from a news article two years before trial.⁷¹ Jurors variously recalled the convictions described as:

"two strikes", "multiple felony offenses", "multiple felony convictions", "prior felonies", "something about three strikes", "two prior convictions", "two felonies", "something to do with the three strikes law", "something said about the three strikes law", "something about three strikes you're out". *Id.* at 1718, 1734, 1735, 1738, 1743, 1745, 1749, 1752, 1756, 1759, 1763, 1768-69.

Juror No. 1 confirmed he could not recall specifics, dismissing a notion the crimes were described as a murder or gun possession. *Id.* at 1735. No other juror had any sense of such details.⁷² The impropriety of Juror No. 2's comment was immediately recognized by all.⁷³ It was made clear the improperly revealed information should not be discussed.⁷⁴ The jurors who heard it assured the Presiding Juror it would not affect their understanding of the case. *Id.* at 1725. Deliberations were suspended.⁷⁵ Those jurors were individually questioned by the court. They adamantly

⁷⁰ 13RP(4/10/14) 1711, 1717-18, 1720, 1729.

⁷¹ RP (4/10/14) 1722-24, 1734-35.

⁷² *Id.* at 1739, 1743, 1745, 1749, 1752, 1756, 1759, 1763, 1768-69.

⁷³ *E.g.*, RP (4/10/14) 1719, 1724, 1759, 1768.

⁷⁴ 1739, 1752-53, 1756, 1759, 1768-69.

⁷⁵ RP (4/10/14) 1720, 1725-26, 1736, 1739, 1743, 1745-46, 1749-50, 1754, 1757, 1759, 1765, 1770

assured it of their ability to disregard the extrinsic evidence while impartially deciding the case from the evidence admitted at trial.⁷⁶

Defendant moved for a mistrial, citing the misconduct's potential prejudice. RP (4/10/14) 1714, 1732-73, 1775. The motion was taken under advisement. *Id.* at 1778. Defendant did not object to replacing Juror No.2 with the first alternate. *Id.* at 1778-1785. The jury returned a verdict four days later. RP (4/14/14) 3. Defendant initially withdrew his motion to hear the verdict, then reasserted it to preserve an issue for appeal. *Id.* at 4-6. It was denied after careful consideration. *Id.* at 9; 15RP 1792.

- a. The trial court did not manifestly abuse its discretion in permitting an adamantly impartial jury to decide the case.

"Case law, the juror bias statute, our Superior Court Criminal Rules and scholarly comment all emphasize ... the trial court is ... best position[ed] to determine a juror's ability to be ... impartial. It is the trial court that can observe the [jurors] and evaluate ... the[ir] responses.... A trial court's decision on juror fitness will be affirmed unless "very clearly erroneous." *State v. Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d 831, 839-40, 809 P.2d 190 (1990).

Factors to consider when evaluating the impact of extrinsic material on deliberations, include: (1) whether the material was received;

⁷⁶ *Id.* at 1725, 1736, 1739-40, 1743-44, 1746, 1750, 1754, 1757, 1760-61, 1756, 1770.

(2) when it was introduced; (3) how long it was available and discussed; (4) evidence indicating probable affect on the verdict; (5) the material's ambiguity, admissibility, or cumulative quality; (6) remedial measures undertaken; and (7) other evidence in the case. *Estrada v. Scribner*, 512 F.3d 1227, 1238-39 (9th Cir. 2008)(extrinsic evidence of defendant's murder conviction harmlessly introduced into deliberations).

Application of these factors to Juror No. 2's misconduct reveals it to be harmless. The unverified account of defendant's criminal history was introduced on roughly the first day of deliberations, immediately rejected as improper by every juror who heard it and rapidly reported to the court without further discussion. There was no inherent credibility in Juror No.2's claimed recollection of a news article allegedly read two years before trial. And any potency to the information, if believed, was diluted by the jury's legitimate exposure the prior serious offense underlying defendant's UPOF count. The information was also ambiguous in so far as its variably received import ranged from multiple convictions to strikes.

Defendant suggests the latter characterization was overwhelming prejudicial due to its alleged association with dangerous criminals, yet this contention cannot be reconciled with nationwide controversies over the application of Three Strikes laws to petty crimes. *E.g., Ewig v. California*, 538 U.S. 11, 30-31, 123 S. Ct. 1179, 155 L. Ed. 2d 108 (2003)(rejecting

challenge to 25 year to life sentence for golf club theft). That notion is also undermined by this case where the *deterrent effect* of potential exposure to a third strike sentence was improperly proposed as a fact which might support an inference of innocence. RP (4/10/14) 1718, 1759.

The court took swift remedial action by recalling the jurors to their duty to impartially decide the case based on the evidence admitted at trial.

The jurors responded by adamantly reassuring the court they would:

I'm listening to these jurors and I don't know whether the transcribed record would be as informative as it was to listen to the way the jurors answered the questions about can they be fair and impartial and follow the court's instructions. And I got the feeling ... they were very adamant about that; that they could follow and that they would be impartial. *Id.* at 1777.

In denying the motion, Judge Felnagle explained:

[T]he jury did know from the trial ... there was a prior conviction ... The problem happened early in the process[,] so ... there wasn't a lot of disclosure back and forth ... It was immediately condemned, and universally so, by the other jurors. All the jurors, when they came out, appeared to this court quite adamant in answering .. they could be fair and impartial and ... they would decide the case only on the evidence ... hear[ed] in court. We were able to remove the offending juror right away and replace him with an alternate *Id.* at 8-9.

A similar sentiment was expressed when defendant's motion for reconsideration was denied:

[I]t was clear to me ... the jury was absolutely adamant about the fact ... they would set aside anything ...

improperly in front of them and decide the case just on the evidence ... they were supposed to decide it on *Id.* 1797.

Judge Felnagle rejected defendant's suggestion the citizen jurors were "so brittle" they could not compartmentalize information about defendant's alleged convictions despite all evidence to the contrary. *Id.* at 1797-1801. He "remained convinced ... the jurors did exactly what [they were] instructed to do ... [leaving] the verdict ... untainted[.]" *Id.* 1809-10.

Judge Felnagle's respect for the mental fortitude of properly instructed jurors is well founded. The prejudice potentially adhering to prior convictions is their capacity to be misused as propensity evidence. *E.g.*, ER 404(a). Yet properly instructed jurors are regularly entrusted to appropriately use or completely disregard such evidence. *State v. Ruzick*, 89 Wn.2d 217, 229-30, 570 P.2d 1208, 1214-15 (1977)(citing *Spencer v. Texas*, 385 U.S. 544, 87 S. Ct. 648, 17 L. Ed. 2d 606 (1967)(instruction sufficient to prevent misuse of prior convictions in deliberations). Prior convictions are often considered as evidence of predicate crimes. RCW 9.41.040; *Old Chief v. United States*, 519 U.S. 172, 177-78, 117 S. Ct. 644, 136 L. Ed. 2d 574 (1997). Those offenses may be elevated by previous convictions for the same offense, magnifying the nevertheless resisted pull toward propensity inferences. They may also be tried jointly, exposing jurors to multiple prior convictions for identical charges—yet

their presumed capacity to impartially render verdicts endures. *E.g.*, RCW 26.50.110(5)(felony VPO); 9A.88.010(c)(felony indecent exposure); CrR 4.3 (joinder); *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 569-76, 940 P.2d 546 (1997)(*res gestae*). Citizen jurors are even trusted to perform the complex mental exercise of considering prior convictions to assess credibility while giving them no quarter as substantive proof. *Ruzicka*, 89 Wn.2d 230; ER 609; *see also* ER 404(b); 608.

Inadvertent exposure to a defendant's criminal history can likewise be reliably remedied through proper instructions. *United States v. Hammond*, 666 F.2d 435, 441 (9th Cir. 1982)(citing *United States v. Belperio*, 452 F.2d 389, 391 (9th Cir. 1971)); *United States v. Feroni*, 655 F.2d 707, 713 (6th Cir. 1981)(harmless error where witness referred to defendant as "three time loser"), *abrogated on other grounds*, *Bell v. United States*, 462 U.S. 356, 103 S. Ct. 2389, 76 L. Ed. 2d 638 (1983). A juror's capacity to compartmentalize prior convictions does not irretrievably dissipate the moment deliberations begin. From *voir dire* to verdict, trial courts are empowered to assess each juror's ability to remain fair in the face of a defendant's prior convictions. Impartiality may be reassessed through questioning, reinforced through instructions and reaffirmed by the court until the jurors' subjective thoughts inextricably

inhere in a verdict. *See Ruzicka*, 89 Wn.2d at 2298-30; *State v. Ng.*, 110 Wn.2d 32, 44-45, 750 P.2d 632 (1988).

This assignment of error misapplies cases addressing post-verdict revelations of juror misconduct where courts cannot similarly respond because the jurors' thoughts already inhere in the verdicts. App.Br. p. 24 (*State v. Johnson*, 127 Wn. App. 862, 865-69, 155 P.3d 183 (2007)(citing *State v. Briggs*, 55 Wn. App. 44, 47-48, 776 P.2d 1347 (1989)). The limitations at issue in those cases are not applicable here since the misconduct's impact was assessed before any verdicts were reached. *See* CJC Crim. Law § 1915. The court's ruling was also harmless, if error, due to the ample evidence of defendant's guilt.

- b. Defendant waived any challenge to the offending juror's removal by failing to object.

The decision to remove a juror for misconduct manifesting an inability to fairly deliberate will be affirmed absent a manifest abuse of discretion. *State v. Depaz*, 165 Wn.2d 842, 855, 858 204 P.3d 217 (2009). Defendant revealed he would have sought Juror No.2's excusal during *voir dire* if his pretrial-media exposure had been candidly disclosed in the questionnaire. RP (4/10/14) 1712-13, 1728. Defendant consistently made no objection when Juror No.2 was removed. *Id.* at 1778-79, 1795-96.

i. Defendant failed to preserve this issue for review.

Appellate courts should not review unpreserved challenges to a trial court's removal of a juror for misconduct. *See* RAP 2.5; *Martini ex rel. Dussault v. State*, 121 Wn. App. 150, 177, 89 P.3d 250 (2004)(citing *State v. Aiken*, 72 Wn.2d 306, 350, 434 P.2d 10 (1967)); *Uttecht v. Brown*, 551 U.S. 1, 17-19, 127 S. Ct. 2218, 167 L. Ed. 2d 1014 (2007); *Shibley v. United States*, 237 F.2d 327, 335 (9th Cir. 1956); *see also Smith v. Curry*, 580 F.3d 1071, 1084-85 (9th Cir. 2009)(citing *States v. Gagnon*, 470 U.S. 522, 528, 105 S. Ct. 1482, 84 L. Ed. 2d (1985). Invited error also bars review since a defendant cannot complain about an error he or she set up at trial. *State v. Henderson*, 114 Wn.2d 867, 870, 792 P.2d 514 1990).

The challenge to Juror No.2's removal should not be reviewed. Whether viewed through the lens of waiver or invited error, defendant's complicity in the decision precludes him from attacking it on appeal.

ii. Juror No.2's removal was warranted to ensure the integrity of the deliberative process.

Trial courts are obliged to excuse jurors who manifest unfitness through conduct incompatible with proper and efficient service. *Depaz*, 165 Wn.2d at 852 (citing RCW 2.36.110); *State v. Rafay*, 168 Wn. App. 734, 820-21, 285 P.3d 83 (2012)(CrR 6.5); *State v. Hopkins*, 156 Wn.

App. 468, 474, 232 P.3d 597 (2010); *State v. Jorden*, 103 Wn. App. 221, 229, 11 P.3d 866 (2000) (juror properly removed for compromised fitness without further questioning).

Juror No.2's demonstrated disregard for the integrity of the deliberative process could not be allowed to put future deliberations at risk. Defendant erroneously maintains *Depaz* left the trial court powerless to protect the proceeding from Juror No.2 because he allegedly expressed a substantive opinion about the case. *Depaz* did not extend an irrevocable license to commit egregious misconduct to any vocally opinionated juror who remains impervious to the prejudicial impact of his or her own malfeasance.

Depaz is also inapplicable since Juror No.2 did not clearly articulate a substantive opinion about the case, nor was he ever identified to be a *hold out* accused of failing to follow instructions. *Depaz*, 165 Wn.2d at 855 (citing *State v. Elmore*, 155 Wn.2d 758, 776-78, 123 P.3d 72 (2005)). While deliberating, he interjected the following query:

"Why would he do it? He has two strikes against him already. Why would he do it? I don't see why he would do it." RP (4/10/14) 1718.

Juror No. 10 described Juror No. 2 as posing a "question," *i.e.* "how does that affect[ed] his ... thought[s] about the whole process of deliberations." *Id.* at 1763. Deliberation is the process of pondering issues through

discussion. Webster's Third New International Dictionary 596 (2002). One can only speculate about Juror No.2's substantive opinion about the case because his improper query may have been an attempt to play devil's advocate or an earnest effort to elicit the insight of others to resolve what he perceived to be a meaningful incongruity. The trial court thought Juror No.2's comments may have been a misguided attempt to assist the deliberative process. RP (4/14/14) 8. Even if a substantive opinion was conveyed by the query, it was based on extrinsic misinformation, establishing Juror No.2's inability to fairly deliberate. It was not a manifest abuse of discretion to remove him.

5. DEFENDANT FAILED TO PRESERVE HIS
MERITLESS CHALLENGE TO THE PROPERLY
IMPOSED LFOs.

Defendants sentenced after May 21, 2013, have notice that failing to object to the imposition of LFOs waives the ability to do so on appeal. *State v. Lyle*, ___ Wn. App. ___, ___ P.3d ___, 2015 WL4156773, 2 (citing *State v. Blazina*, 174 Wn. App. 906, 911, 301 P.3d 492 (2013)); *see also Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d at 421. Mandating an objection promotes judicial efficiency by giving the court the opportunity to avoid needless appeals. *State v. Lindsey*, 177 Wn. App. 233, 247, 311 P.3d 61 (2013).

Defendant proceeded to sentence on June 5, 2014, or about one year after this Court's decision in *Blazina* put him on notice that failure to object to LFOs precludes a defendant from challenging them on appeal.

15RP 1792. Although the State Supreme Court exercised its RAP 2.5 discretion to review Blazina's similarly unpreserved objection, it did so to correct what it perceived to be a systemic problem of statewide importance. The perceived problem was corrected by its *Blazina* decision. *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d 827, 834, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). Since there is no similar issue of statewide importance to resolve through review of defendant's unpreserved claim, his failure to object should not be excused.

Defendant's unpreserved challenge also fails on the merits. The sentencing court was exposed to defendant's physical abilities through the evidence adduced at trial as well as his history of being able to commit physically violent offenses. CP 486; 15RP 1815. Defense counsel vouched for defendant's intelligence. 15RP 1814. It was reasonable for the sentencing judge to find defendant had the wherewithal to reimburse the community \$1,700 for the three trials it facilitated to ensure he was fairly tried. The order ensures the community will benefit from any funds defendant earns in prison or receives through gift, inheritance, or lottery, so it should be affirmed.